THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2017-002517

---

William H. Sloan, Jr.,

Respondent,

v.

Fine Housing, Inc.,

Appellant.

**RECEIVED**  
APR 27 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Meredith L. Coker  
Patrick J. Norton  
575 King Street, Suite A  
Charleston, South Carolina 29403  
Tel: (843) 853-9907  
Fax: (843) 722-5702  
Attorneys for Appellant

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in finding Charles S. Altman to be a “necessary witness?”
2. Did the trial court err in failing to apply the exceptions explicit in Rule 3.7 in its analysis?
3. Did the trial court err in disqualifying Charles S. Altman from all representation of Appellant?

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[A]n order granting a motion to disqualify a party's attorney in a civil case affects a substantial right and may be immediately appealed under [S.C. Code] Section 14–3–330(2).”

Hagood v. Sommerville, 362 S.C. 191, 197, 607 S.E.2d 707, 710 (2005).

A circuit court's ruling on a motion to disqualify a party's attorney is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. See Orangeburg Sausage Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 316 S.C. 331, 347–48, 450 S.E.2d 66, 75 (Ct. App. 1994) (finding no abuse of discretion in the circuit court's ruling disqualifying an attorney from acting as an advocate but allowing the attorney to act as a witness). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the [circuit] court's ruling is based on an error of law or is not supported by the evidence.” Lawing v. Univar, USA, Inc., 415 S.C. 209, 225, 781 S.E.2d 548, 556–57 (2015).

Brooks v. S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense, 419 S.C. 319, 324, 797 S.E.2d 402, 404 (Ct. App. 2017).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 16, 2016, Appellant Fine Housing, Inc., brought suit against Respondent William H. Sloan, Jr., alleging professional negligence arising from a real estate closing in which Appellant purchased two parcels of real property located in Charleston County. [R. pp. , Complaint]. Respondent represented Appellant in the closing. On January 7, 2017, Respondent moved to stay the matter pending resolution of a related case (Clarke v. Fine Housing, Inc., CA No. 2015-CP-10-03038), the final outcome of which was required for the parties to determine amount of damages in

the instant matter.<sup>1</sup>

While discovery was ongoing, Respondent filed a Motion to Disqualify Charles S. Altman as Attorney for Plaintiff. [R. pp., Motion]. Upon consideration of the relevant pleadings and argument proffered at hearing held June 1, 2017, the trial court granted Respondent's Motion. [R. pp. , Order]. On July 7, 2017, Appellant filed the Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied by Order entered November 20, 2017. [R. p. , Form 4 Order]. Appellant filed and served the Notice of Appeal on December 6, 2017.

### FACTS

Respondent represented Appellant in the purchase of two parcels of property on December 2, 2013. At the time of closing, one of the parcels was scheduled to be sold at foreclosure sale on December 3, 2013. Charles S. Altman represented the mortgagee in the foreclosure matter. Subsequent to the December 2, 2013 closing, Appellant became aware of myriad issues effecting clarity of title. These issues were not addressed by Respondent prior to or at closing. Due to the litigious nature of several of these matters, Appellant retained Altman to represent it with regard to the litigations and to confirm that legal title to the parcels was clear.

Respondent sets forth eight areas of potential testimony for which he asserts Altman is a necessary witness. [R. pp., Motion at 2-3]. To summarize, these areas include: (a) issues relating to the impending foreclosure sale against the prior owner by a former mortgagee, represented in the foreclosure matter by Altman; (b) and (c) tax liens filed against the former owner attaching to the

---

<sup>1</sup> In Clarke v. Fine Housing, Inc., Clarke alleged a right to purchase one of the parcels by virtue of certain terms contained in a Lease of a portion of the parcel; that has been adjudicated at the trial court and is now pending before the Court of Appeals pursuant to cross-appeals by each party thereto. The instant case has been stayed pursuant to an Order of the Trial Court entered June 26, 2017.

parcels and the need for the removal of those liens to clear title; (d) the terms, conditions, and exceptions set forth in (various) iterations of the title commitment and policy issued by Respondent for the benefit of Appellant; (e) settlement of a related matter brought against Appellant by the former owners of the parcels; (f) matters relating to the obligations of the current commercial tenant; (g) settlement of a ongoing litigation matter creating a cloud on title; and (h) the nature and value of legal services rendered to Appellant by Altman. [R. pp., Motion at 2-3].

## ARGUMENT

Rule 3.7 states, in relevant part:

(a) A lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness unless:

- (1) the testimony relates to an uncontested issue;
- (2) the testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services rendered in the case; or
- (3) disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on the client.

Rule 407, SCACR (RPC 3.7). The Rule seeks to avoid juror confusion by eliminating a situation wherein an attorney is acting in a dual role as both advocate and factual witness.

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT CHARLES S. ALTMAN IS A "NECESSARY WITNESS."

The trial court abused its discretion in relying upon the Respondent's assertion that Altman is a "necessary witness" in a future trial. An attorney is determined to be a necessary witness "when the 'attorney's testimony is relevant to disputed, material questions of fact' and 'there is no other evidence available to prove those facts.'" Brooks v. S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense, 419 S.C. 319, 326, 797 S.E.2d 402, 405 (Ct.App. 2017) (internal citations omitted). "A necessary witness is not just someone with relevant information, however, but someone who has material information that no one else can provide." Mettler v. Mettler, 50 Conn.Supp. 357, 360, 928 A.2d 631, 633

(2007). See also Cottonwood Estates, Inc. v. Paradise Builders, Inc., , 128 Ariz. 99, 105, 624 P.2d 296, 302 (1981) (“When an attorney is to be called other than on behalf of his client, a motion for disqualification must be supported by a showing that the attorney will give evidence material to the determination of the issues being litigated, that the evidence is unobtainable elsewhere, and that the testimony is or may be prejudicial to the testifying attorney's client.”).

Appellant has not named Altman, in discovery or anywhere else, as a necessary fact witness. Instead, in a clearly tactical move, Respondent has asserted that Altman is a necessary witness primarily to contradict or impeach Respondent’s own potential testimony. Other jurisdictions have explicitly warned that naming opposing counsel as a necessary witness to trigger disqualification is a tactic not to be tolerated. This Court in Brooks recognized the potential for such a tactic. See Brooks, 419 S.C. 319, 326, 797 S.E.2d 402, 405 (Ct. App. 2017) (“However, we also recognize the countervailing rationale that a party could call opposing counsel as a necessary witness, requiring his or her disqualification, purely for tactical or strategic reasons.” Beller v. Crow, 274 Neb. 603, 742 N.W.2d 230, 234 (2007); Smithson v. U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co., 186 W.Va. 195, 411 S.E.2d 850, 855 (1991)).

The burden of proving the necessity of counsel as a witness is on the moving party. The trial court erred in reviewing the matter in the light most favorable to Respondent, and in failing to consider the identification of other witnesses who could readily provide information relating to each of the areas of testimony identified by Respondent, to include Respondent, Will Swope, Howard Sherman, and representatives of the South Carolina Department of Revenue, the Internal Revenue

Service, and Appellant, among others. [R. pp., Motion to Reconsider].<sup>2</sup> Pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-36-100, Appellant has also provided the Affidavit of C. Joseph Roof, who is expected to testify as an expert witness relating to the Respondent's actions as they relate to the standards of due care involved in a real estate closing. [R. pp., Complaint at Exhibit A]. Moreover, several of the items purportedly in dispute are matters of public record and are fully documented, such as the tax liens, the other litigation matters, the prior foreclosure matter, and any settlements. [R. pp., Memorandum in Opposition].

Furthermore, several of the identified issues, such as the attachment of the liens to the parcels and the determination of other actions relating to potential clouds of title, are matters not only of record but also solely within the purview of the trial judge as matters of law. The documents evidencing these matters are evidence in the case and address many of the issues for which the trial court determined in error Altman would be a necessary witness.<sup>3</sup>

In finding Altman to be a necessary witness, the trial court improperly accepted the Respondent's characterization of Appellant's trial strategy and introduction of evidence supporting its case in chief. Moreover, the trial court improperly commingled questions of fact and law without consideration of the "juror confusion" rationale of Rule 3.7. Without setting forth that strategy explicitly, the Appellant's assertions that there are other witnesses and evidence to meet its *prima facie* burdens should be sufficient and dispositive. The trial court's determination of Altman as a necessary witness is thus an abuse of discretion and should be reversed.

---

<sup>2</sup>Evidence with regard to prior or pending litigated matters can likewise be discovered and admitted as necessary through the parties and witnesses in those respective cases.

<sup>3</sup>As such, the risk of juror confusion and the underlying rationale of Rule 3.7 is *de minimis* if at all existent and should be properly balanced against the rights of Appellant.

2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO APPLY THE EXCEPTIONS EXPLICIT IN RULE 3.7 IN ITS FINDING.

Notwithstanding the trial court's finding of Altman as a "necessary witness," the trial court committed error in failing to consider and apply properly the exceptions explicitly delineated in Rule 3.7, specifically, that "(1) the testimony relates to an uncontested issue; (2) the testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services rendered in the case; or (3) disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on the client." Rule 407, SCACR.

Altman's testimony as to the nature and value of legal services rendered is an explicit exception to Rule 3.7. Respondent relied upon his potential testimony as to legal services rendered and the costs incurred by Appellant on the face of his Motion to Disqualify [R. p., Motion at 3]. The trial court clearly abused its discretion in its reliance on this type of evidence to disqualify Altman, in direct contravention of Rule 3.7. Moreover, the Order disqualifying Altman improperly and overtly combines evidence relating to the nature and value of legal services rendered in prior matters with the Respondent's blanket assertions relating to substantive matters of law and fact for which there is ample evidence exclusive of any need for Altman to testify. This blurred characterization effectively causes a extinguishment of the exception of Rule 3.7(b) in direct contravention of the Rule.

Moreover, any testimony that could be proffered by Altman as to the amounts and terms of the settlement and other litigated claims lies firmly within the first exception, that of testimony relating to an uncontested issue. There is no actual dispute as to the existence of certain litigated matters, their resolution through settlement or adjudication, settlement agreements, and the amounts paid to resolve certain matters.

Finally, Appellant provided an Affidavit setting forth the basis for its assertion that disqualification of Altman would create a substantial hardship for Appellant. [R. p., Memorandum in Opposition at Exhibit A]. Respondent addressed the existence of the Affidavit merely by alleging that there was sufficient time to obtain new counsel; and that Respondent's answers to Standard Interrogatory No. 1 to include Altman as a witness concerning the facts of the case should have put Altman and Appellant on notice that Respondent would seek disqualification of Altman as a "necessary witness."<sup>4</sup> Neither of these allegations meet Respondent's burden of showing the absence of a substantial hardship. As is clear from the record in the case at bar, there have been multiple litigations, negotiations, claims, liens, and lease disputes that have afflicted and clouded Appellant's ownership of the parcels purchased in December 2013. For Appellant to retain new counsel to review countless documents, deposition transcripts, and pleadings in this matter and all of the related litigation, as well as to conduct any independent investigation and discovery necessary would require extensive duplicated efforts and incur substantial additional attorneys fees and costs. For the reasons set forth herein, the trial court's failure to properly apply the Rule 3.7 exceptions and deny Respondent's Motion to Disqualify was an abuse of discretion and clear error. The Order of disqualification should be reversed.

3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISQUALIFYING CHARLES S. ALTMAN FROM ALL FURTHER REPRESENTATION OF APPELLANT.

Rule 3.7 explicitly states that "[a] lawyer shall not act as advocate *at a trial* in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness." *Id.* (emphasis added). This Rule must be read literally

---