THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTOR COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-002517

Fine Housing, Inc.

Appellant,

v.

William H. Sloan Jr.

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Stephanie H. Burton
Gibbes Burton, LLC
308 East Saint John Street
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29302
Tel: (864) 327-5000
Attorneys for Respondent

RECEIVED
AUG 16 2018
SC Court of Appeals

FACTS

Robin Robinson owned a house at 2470 Sol Legare Road in Charleston, South Carolina. (Complaint ¶6) (R. p. 16, lines 1-7). RRJR, LLC owned a gentlemen's club, Thee Southern Belle, located at 2028 Pittsburg Avenue in North Charleston, South Carolina. (Id.) RRJR and its owner, Robin Robinson, were represented by attorney William Swope, who assisted RRJR in finding financing to pay various debts. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 16-18) (R. pp. 51-52). Among other obligations, there was a judgment creditor seeking to foreclose on its judgment and both Robinson and RRJR owed various local, state, and federal tax liens. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, p. 20, 109, 139) (R. pp. 54, 69, 71).

In the summer of 2013, Swope contacted Respondent William H. Sloan, Jr., a real estate attorney, and indicated that he was planning to refer a refinance matter to him. (Sloan Dep. pp. 18, 20) (R. p. 95, line 13 - p. 96, line 19). Sloan believed that he would be representing Robinson and RRJR since it was a refinance matter. (Sloan Dep. pp. 20, 21) (R. p. 96, line 24 - p. 97, line 6). That summer, Swope also spoke with Vincent Destaso of Fine Housing about a potential loan and advised Destaso that RRJR/Robinson needed to borrow between \$800,000 and \$900,000 to cover existing debts. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, p. 17) (R. p. 52, lines 6-11). Destaso was not interested in making a loan, but indicated that he might be interested in purchasing the properties offered as collateral. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 29, 40) (R. p. 55, lines 23 - p. 56, lines 16).

On November 19, 2013, Destaso was again approached by a broker about a potential transaction with RRJR/Robinson. Some time prior to November 25, 2013, Destaso traveled from his home in New York to Charleston, South Carolina and visited Thee Southern Belle and met Robinson. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 41, 55) (R. p. 57, line 18 - p. 58, line 25). On November 25 or 26, 2013, Fine Housing made an \$800,000 proposal to purchase the properties, lease the

properties for two years, and allow repurchase at an established repurchase price. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, p. 68, 73) (R. p. 59, line 18 - p. 60, line 25).

Swope had prepared preliminary title opinions for both parcels that he provided to both Destaso and Sloan. (Sloan Dep. p. 25, Destaso Dep. Vol. I, p. 29) (R. p. 100, lines 8-11; R. p. 55, lines 6-13). Notably, Swope intentionally failed to identify a lease between Barry Clarke and RRJR relating to the 2028 Pittsburg Avenue property in his title search. (Sloan Dep. p. 54-56) (R. p. 116, line 8 - p. 118, line 25).

In addition, Robinson was a named defendant in two lawsuits, one filed by Chandler Ryan Crabtree and one by William Foster. (Complaint ¶29) (R. p. 19 at ¶29). Swope likewise represented Robinson in those two actions. (Sloan Dep. p. 44) (R. p. 107, lines 2-8). Neither claim had been reduced to a judgment against Robinson or RRJR at the time of closing on the two parcels. (Sloan Dep. p. 45) (R. p. 108, lines 3-9).

Instead of a refinance as originally contemplated by Swope, on Saturday, November 30, 2018, RRJR and Robinson reached agreement with Fine Housing pursuant to which Fine Housing agreed to purchase the two properties for \$850,000 and would lease them to Robinson and RRJR with a right to repurchase the properties. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 89, 103, 104, 125) (R. pp. 62, 68-70). The closing had to occur on Monday, December 2, 2013, because a foreclosure proceeding was scheduled on the outstanding judgment on the morning of Tuesday, December 3, 2013. (Sloan Dep. p., 24; Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 94-96, 178-179) (R. p. 24, lines 4-9; R. p. 63, line 10- p. 65, line 10; R. p. 72-73). Although a request to postpone the foreclosure hearing was made by Fine Housing, Charles Altman, who represented the judgment creditor, was insistent that the foreclosure sale proceed on December 3, 2013. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 95 -97) (R. pp. 64-66). In fact, following at 4:00 p.m. closing, Sloan had to obtain and hand-deliver a certified check to

pay the judgment to Altman by 10:00 a.m. on December 3, 2013. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, p. 192) (R. p. 74, lines 16-20). As a result, the closing was unduly rushed. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, p. 84) (R. p. 61, lines 3-10).

Because he was concerned that Swope had not identified all tax liens on the properties, on the morning of December 2, 2013, Sloan asked Charles Feeley to conduct a title examination that day. (Sloan Dep. p. 46) (R. p. 109, lines 8-25). Given the time constraints, Sloan did not review Feeley's work until after the closing that evening. (Sloan Dep. p. 53) (R. p. 115, lines 7-25). Feeley had identified an \$81,953.76 tax lien on the Sol Legare property in the name of John Robinson (Robin Robinson's deceased spouse) and the lease involving Barry Clarke on the Pittsburgh property, neither of which were included in the Swope title search. (Sloan Dep. p. 34, 46 - 47) (R. p. 102, lines 15-25; R. p. 109, lines 8 - p. 110, line 25). When Sloan contacted Swope that night, Swope contended that the tax lien was not against Robin Robinson, but only her deceased husband, John Robinson. (Sloan Dep. p. 48) (R. p. 48, lines 4-10). Sloan did not know whether that lien applied to the property owned by Robin Robinson. (Sloan Dep. pp. 49-51) (R. pp. 112-114).

Sloan did not have payoff information for many of the other known tax liens on the properties and Swope agreed to obtain and provide that information. As a result, Sloan did not issue a title commitment at the time of the closing and Destaso knew this. (Sloan Dep. pp. 38-39) (R. pp. 104-105). Accordingly, Sloan withheld a sum from the closing to cover potential tax liens that needed to be paid. (Sloan Dep. p. 64) (R. p. 119). Despite many requests by both Sloan and Altman, Swope did not provide all of the tax lien payoffs, presumably so that one or more liens would expire after closing so that the proceeds could then be paid to RRJR or Robinson. (Sloan Dep. p. 65, 88-89) (R. p. 65; R. p. 128, line 1 - p. 129, line 15). Altman contended to Sloan that

even if a tax lien had expired by its terms, the lien amount was required to be paid to the taxing authority. (Sloan Dep. pp. 85-87, 89) (R. pp. 125-126, 129).

Fine Housing also contends that Sloan erroneously issued title commitments for the properties after closing and that the title policies issued by Sloan included after-acquired knowledge concerning the Clarke Lease and tax liens. (Complaint) (R. pp. 15-20). When questions arose regarding title, Sloan sent the title commitments to Altman, then counsel for Fine Housing. (Sloan Dep. pp. 32) (R. p. 101, line 15-25).

Robinson and RRJR's Lawsuit against Fine Housing

Following the closing, RRJR and Robinson immediately defaulted on the lease and filed suit against Fine Housing contending that they had been misled regarding the nature of the transaction and thought that it was a loan. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 228-229) (R. pp. 76-77). Altman was retained by Fine Housing to handle that litigation. As part of the settlement of that matter, in September 2014, Robinson granted Altman authorization to contact the taxing authorities and obtain the tax lien payoff information that Swope had never provided. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 265-269) (R. pp. 85-89). Fine Housing claims damages relating to the payment of tax liens negotiated by Altman following the settlement with Robinson and RRJR, including the disputed tax lien in the name of John Robinson. Fine Housing, however, has no personal knowledge of the tax liens paid, the amounts paid, or whether the amounts were actually payable since Altman handled those matters. In fact, Altman directed Sloan to make certain payments from the amounts held in Trust to pay tax liens:

Q: And didn't I (Altman) obtain a compromised settlement with the South Carolina Department of Revenue?

A: Yes.

(Sloan Dep. p. 83) (R. p. 123, lines 16-19).

The Clarke Lawsuit

On March 21, 2014, Barry Clarke contacted Sloan and advised him that he had a lease that applied to the Pittsburgh Avenue property. (Sloan Dep. pp. 56, 78) (R. p. 118, lines 2-17). Sloan notified both Altman and Fine Housing of the call that day. (Sloan Dep. p. 78) (R. p. 121, lines 2-13). Clarke subsequently filed a lawsuit against Fine Housing contending that he had a right of first refusal that applied to some or all of the 2028 Pittsburgh property. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 243-246) (R. pp. 78-81). Altman, along with counsel retained by Stewart Title, represented Fine Housing in that case. The trial court found in favor of Clarke in that case and awarded him \$350,000. That decision is also on appeal to this Court. Fine Housing seeks damages against Sloan in this case relating to the Clarke matter.

Crabtree and Foster Settlements

In addition to damages relating to the Clarke matter, Fine Housing claims damages relating to the settlement of claims by Crabtree and Foster, although Fine Housing has no personal knowledge or understanding of the settlement negotiated by Altman. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, p. 280) (R. p. 91).

Attorney's Fees

Fine Housing claims damages for attorney's fees, yet Destaso cannot identify all of the matters for which Fine Housing incurred fees or the amounts paid for each matter. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, pp. 279-282) (R. pp. 90-93). It is apparent that Altman represented Fine Housing on a wide variety of matters, including those not involved in this litigation.

The depositions of Appellant and of Sloan have made clear that Altman is a necessary fact witness concerning the following issues:

- a. The urgency of the payoff of the Sherman mortgage and Sherman's refusal to postpone the foreclosure sale, leading to a rushed closing;

- b. Obtaining payoffs for tax liens associated with both parcels of property, including attempts to deal with the seller's counsel regarding payoffs;
- c. Disputed assertions by Altman concerning which liens had to be paid and a subsequent negotiation of a payoff of a state tax lien;
- d. Discussions and negotiations relating to the title insurance commitments and title policy;
- e. The settlement of the action brought by Robin Robinson and RRJR, since Mr. DeStaso, the 30(b)(6) representative of his client, Fine Housing, Inc., testified at his deposition that he did not read the settlement agreement and was not familiar with its terms, but claims amounts paid in settlement as damages in this case;
- f. The settlements Fine Housing has entered into with the current tenant of the Pittsburg Avenue property;
- g. The settlement of the prior *Foster* and *Crabtree* actions; and
- h. The nature of legal services provided to Fine Housing, Inc. for which Fine Housing is seeking damages.

ARGUMENT

A. Charles Altman is a Necessary Witness in this Case and was Properly Disqualified

The trial court correctly concluded that Charles Altman is a necessary witness in this case and should be disqualified from participating as trial counsel for Fine Housing. Rule 3.7 of the Rules of Professional Conduct states, in relevant part:

- (a) A lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness unless:
 - (1) The testimony relates to an uncontested issue;

- (2) The testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services rendered in the case; or
- (3) Disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on the client.

Rule 3.7, SCRPC.

A necessary witness is someone who has material information that no one else can provide. *Mettler v. Mettler*, 928 A.2d 631, 633 (Conn. Sup. Ct. 2007). As the trial court appropriately noted, “an attorney may be a necessary witness even when there other witnesses to an event if ‘no other witness would be able to provide evidence regarding the full extent of [witness’s] involvement’” with the relevant issues. *Brooks v. S.C. Comm’n on Indigent Def.*, 419 S.C. 319, 327, 797 S.E.2d 402, 406 (Ct. App. 2017) (Order at 5) (R. p. 7). Additionally, “in the disqualification situation, any doubt is to be resolved in favor of disqualification.” *Hull v. Celanese*, 513 F.2d 568, 571 (2d Cir. 1975).

Charles Altman’s testimony would necessarily provide material information that other witnesses or documents cannot provide. Furthermore, as the trial court judge appropriately noted, Mr. Altman is the only individual who can offer *complete* testimony relating to several issues. (Order at 5) (R. p. 7). First, Charles Altman is a necessary witness with respect to the reasonableness of and necessity for the settlement of the lawsuits filed by Crabtree and Foster in 2013. As the trial court appropriately noted, Charles Altman would be testifying as to the *necessity* of the settlement. (*Id.*) Destaso, Appellant’s 30(b)(6) representative, did not even have knowledge about the details of those lawsuits or terms of the settlement, and certainly did not, and could not, testify as to the necessity of the settlements. (Destaso Dep. pp. 260-262) (R. pp. 82-84). Accordingly, Charles Altman is a necessary witness with respect to the *Crabtree* and *Foster* settlements.

Second, as the trial court properly noted, Charles Altman is a necessary witness with respect to the title insurance policies issued for the Sole Legare and Pittsburg Avenue properties, as Altman himself corresponded with Sloan regarding the content of the policies at the time they were issued. (Order p. 6) (R. p. 8). Testimony regarding the title insurance policies would necessarily extend beyond the communications themselves. Accordingly, Charles Altman is a necessary witness with respect to the insurance policies for the Sol Legare and Pittsburg Avenue properties.

Third, as the trial court appropriately found, Charles Altman is a necessary witness regarding the tax liens on the Sol Legare and Pittsburgh Avenue parcels. More specifically, as the trial court noted, Charles Altman is a necessary witness with respect to: (1) disputes concerning which tax liens actually applied to the parcels – i.e. did the John Robinson lien apply to either parcel; (2) disputes concerning why Fine Housing paid that tax lien; (3) a settlement which allowed Charles Altman to talk to the South Carolina Department of Revenue about Robinson's tax liabilities; and (4) Charles Altman's negotiations with the South Carolina Department of Revenue concerning the satisfaction of liens. (Order p. 6) (R. p. 8). There is no other witness who could testify with any context about how Altman acquired Robinson's power to attorney and the reasons for and negotiation of the tax liens.

The testimony concerning the tax liens affecting both the Sol Legare Parcel and the Pittsburgh Avenue parcels extends beyond the mere existence or payment of the tax liens. More specifically, Charles Altman's testimony would necessarily include reasons *why* he advised the Fine Housing to pay the tax lien, not merely the fact that the tax lien was paid. Of course, only Charles Altman himself can provide insight as to how he concluded that he should advise the Fine Housing to pay off the tax lien. No expert witness, fact witness, or document can provide such

information. Accordingly, Charles Altman is a necessary witness with respect to the tax liens encumbering both parcels.

Furthermore, with respect to the negotiations with the South Carolina Department of Revenue, any testimony would necessarily include Charles Altman's perspective of the negotiations, as opposed to the mere fact that negotiations occurred. Even if a representative from the South Carolina Department of Revenue were to testify, such a representative would not be able to provide a complete perspective of the negotiations. Furthermore, no evidentiary documents or public records concerning the lien can provide a complete perspective of the negotiations.

Additionally, Charles Altman is a necessary witness with respect to the necessity of paying the tax liens on the Pittsburgh Avenue and Sol Legare parcels. As the trial court properly noted, on November 10, 2014, Sloan wrote to Vincent Destaso that he disagreed with Charles Altman. Altman's opinion regarding the state tax liens. (Order p. 7) (R. p. 9). Accordingly, the testimony regarding the tax liens would necessarily require Charles Altman to testify about his *opinion* regarding the necessity of paying such tax liens. (*Id.*) Accordingly, Charles Altman is a necessary witness with respect to the necessity of paying the tax liens on both parcels.

Next, as the trial court properly determined, Charles Altman is a necessary witness with respect to (1) the diminution of Plaintiff's title insurance coverage; (2) Plaintiff's settlement with Robinson; (3) Plaintiff's mitigation of its damages through rents received for the Pittsburg Avenue parcel subsequent to closing; and (4) Plaintiff's failure to mitigate damages by refusing an offer by Barry Clarke to purchase the Pittsburg Avenue parcel. First, with respect to the diminution of insurance coverage, Destaso testified that he did not understand the lost title coverage, but he was advised by counsel that he had suffered the insurance loss. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, p. 280) (R. p. 91, lines 1-7). Next, with respect to the settlement of the Robinson lawsuit, Destaso only could testify

to the fact that the matter settled. (Destaso Dep. Vol. I, p. 200) (R. p. 73, lines 13-23). Destaso was not able to provide any meaningful information regarding the settlement.

As evidenced by his questioning of Sloan during Sloan's deposition, Fine Housing must rely on Altman to pit his own testimony against that of Sloan with respect to certain communications between them relating to the title commitments and policies, what amounts had to be paid from escrowed funds, why certain lien should have been paid, in what amount, and to whom. (See e.g. Sloan Dep. pp. 65, 80, 83, 84, 86) (R. pp. 120, 122-124, 126). As such, the trial court properly determined that juror confusion would result if Charles Altman were to testify or essentially do so on cross-examination. For these reasons, the trial court's determination that Charles Altman is a necessary witness was not an abuse of discretion and should be affirmed.

B. The Trial Court Did Not Fail to Apply the Exceptions in Rule 3.7.

Under Rule 3.7, an attorney who is likely to be a necessary witness may continue to represent a client if the: "(1) the testimony relates to an uncontested issue; (2) the testimony relates to the nature and value of legal services rendered in the case; or (3) disqualification of the lawyer would work substantial hardship on the client." Rule 3.7 SCRPC. Appellant's argument that Altman's testimony lies within the first exception of Rule 3.7 is misplaced. Altman's testimony concerns more than the existence or terms of settlements and "other litigated claims." As discussed in detail above, Fine Housing lacks any information about many of its claims in this case and about why it suffered damages and how they are calculated. Beyond this, while Fine Housing has little idea what attorney's fees it has incurred and why Sloan is liable for all or any of them, Altman's knowledge far exceeds the value of legal services provided and his testimony is hardly limited to such issues as Appellant suggests.

Additionally, the Trial Court appropriately determined that Appellants would not face substantial hardship by the disqualification of Charles Altman. Respondent identified Charles Altman as a witness concerning the facts of the case in his Answers and Objections to Plaintiff's First Set of Interrogatories. Therefore, as the trial court appropriately determined, Appellant and Charles Altman were both on notice that Altman is a witness in this case. (Order, p. 9) (R. p. 11). Appellant has not identified any authority that suggests that the trial court abused its discretion by finding that it was relevant that Respondent identified Charles Altman in its discovery responses. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in finding that disqualification would not work a substantial hardship on Appellant.

C. The Trial Court Did Not Err in Disqualifying Altman From Further Representation of Appellant.

First, on December 20, 2016, the Trial Court issued a scheduling order in the case establishing deadlines to discovery and dispositive motions, all of which have now passed. (December 20, 2016 Scheduling Order). Thus, there are few pretrial matters remaining. Although Rule 3.7 states that “[a] lawyer shall not act as advocate at a trial in which the lawyer is likely to be a necessary witness,” courts which have addressed identical language have held that an attorney may not conduct pretrial activity in a case in which the attorney is disqualified. *See Addock v. Ewing*, 57 So. 3d 434, 441 (La. Ct. App. 2011)(“Rule 3.7 can apply to a summary judgment proceeding. We do not read the word “trial” in the rule to be so restrictive as to refer only to that court proceeding which reaches a final determination in a lawsuit.”); *Daniels v. City of Wyoming*, CA No: 1:15-cv-507, at *2 (S.D. Ohio April 7, 2016)(“The purpose of Rule 3.7 is to prevent the trial jury from learning about an attorney’s dual role as an advocate and a witness.”). *Freeman v. Vicchiarelli*, 827 F. Supp. 300, 303 (D.N.J. 1993)(“The case law and policies regarding the